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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

 v. 

MICHAEL VANDERGRIFT,  

   

 Defendant. 

  

CRIMINAL ACTION 

 NO. 15-157-3 

 

PAPPERT, J.        June 28, 2018 

MEMORANDUM 

 Michael Vandergrift was charged in a May 31, 2017 Second Superseding 

Indictment with conspiracy to distribute oxycodone in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 846 and 

using, carrying and discharge of a firearm during and in relation to a drug trafficking 

crime, causing a willful and premeditated murder, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 924(j)(1).  

(ECF No. 82.)  Also charged were co-conspirators Mitesh Patel and Anthony Vetri.  

Patel, a registered pharmacist, was accused of selling oxycodone pills to Vetri who sold 

them to Vandergrift, among others, for illegal resale.1  (Id.)  Vandergrift was alleged to 

have killed Gbolahan Olabode, Patel’s business partner.  Vandergrift did so, along with 

Michael Mangold, allegedly at Vetri’s direction to eliminate Olabode as a competitor in 

the distribution of the pills from Patel and thus increase Vetri’s pill supply.2  (Id.) 

 Patel pled guilty before trial (ECF Nos. 164, 165, 166), which began on 

November 29, 2017 (ECF No. 178).  On December 7, after seven days of trial, the jury 

found Vetri and Vandergrift guilty on both charges against them.  (ECF Nos. 187, 190.)  

                                                           
1  Patel was charged in four additional counts with money laundering and filing false tax 

returns.  See (Second Superseding Indictment, ECF No. 82). 

 
2  Mangold was charged elsewhere with numerous counts including murder, and pled guilty on 

May 3, 2016.  (United States v. Mangold, 13-cr-00057, ECF Nos. 26, 27.) 
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On March 12, 2018, Vandergrift, represented by new counsel, filed a post-trial motion 

pursuant to Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure 29, 33 and 34 and further 

supplemented the motion on March 13.  (ECF Nos. 230, 234.)  The Government 

responded on March 16.  (ECF No. 235.)     

Vandergrift raises six issues in his motion, many in cursory fashion.  He 

contends that he shouldn’t have been held to the terms of his Proffer Agreement with 

the Government, that there was insufficient evidence to support his convictions and 

that the prosecution permitted the introduction of perjured testimony.  He claims 

further that he was prejudiced by the admission of evidence showing that he was 

incarcerated before trial, that there was a variance from the indictment, and that the 

drug conspiracy charge was barred by the statute of limitations.  Vandergrift also joins 

in the post-trial motions filed by Vetri without addressing any of those arguments 

himself.  The Court denies Vandergrift’s Motion in its entirety for the reasons that 

follow. 

I 

 The evidence presented at trial established that from approximately 2008 

through June 4, 2013, Patel conspired with several individuals in the greater 

Philadelphia area to divert thousands of oxycodone pills for illegal resale.  (Trial Tr. at 

105–06, 111, 116, 121, Dec. 04, 2017; Gov’t Ex. 908.)  To facilitate this scheme, Patel 

partnered with Olabode, a personal trainer and body builder, in the ownership of three 

pharmacies.  (Trial Tr. at 91–92, 97, 100, 122, 125–26, Dec. 04, 2017.)  Patel placed 

orders for large quantities of oxycodone from various wholesalers (see id. at 114–15; 

Gov’t Exs. 306, 307), and then diverted the pills to various distributors, including 
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Olabode, Vetri, Seth Rosen and Timothy Algeo (Trial Tr. at 104–06, 108–12, 118–19, 

123, 128, Dec. 04, 2017; see Gov’t Exs. 306, 307).  The evidence established that Vetri 

distributed his share of the pills to Vandergrift, Angelo Perone, Eric Maratea and 

others.  (Trial Tr. at 226–29, Dec. 1, 2017; Trial Tr. at 227–28, Dec. 04, 2017; Trial Tr. 

at 210, 221, Dec. 5, 2017.) 

 Eventually, the excessive volume of oxycodone Patel continued to order caused 

the wholesalers to significantly limit his supply.  (Trial Tr. at 114–15, 133, 153, Dec. 04, 

2017; Gov’t Ex. 307.)  This hindered Patel’s ability to provide the pills to Vetri and his 

other distributors.  (Id. at 115, 153–54, 161–62.)  In the fall of 2011, after Patel chose 

Olabode over Vetri as his primary distributor, Vetri decided to eliminate Olabode as a 

competitor and discussed his plan with Vandergrift.  (Id. at 162–64; Trial Tr. at 65–67, 

Dec. 5, 2017.)  Vandergrift recruited Mangold and Allen Carter to help carry out the 

murder.  (Trial Tr. at 240–44, Dec. 04, 2017; Trial Tr. at 66, 74, Dec. 5, 2017.)  Mangold 

testified that in exchange for murdering Olabode, Vetri promised to get Vandergrift 

“more [oxycodone] from the pharmacy owner[.]”  (Trial Tr. at 67, Dec. 5, 2017; Trial Tr. 

at 240–41, Dec. 04, 2017.) 

 The evidence showed that to facilitate the murder, Vetri provided Vandergrift 

with information on Olabode, including, among other things, Olabode’s address and the 

type of cars he drove.  (Trial Tr. at 60, 62, Dec. 5, 2017; Gov’t Ex. 601-C.)  He also told 

Vandergrift that Olabode routinely carried a gun.  (Trial Tr. at 69, Dec. 5, 2017.)  

Vandergrift shared this information with Mangold.  (Id. at 69–70.)  The Government 

introduced text messages and cell cite location data showing that in the fall and winter 

of 2011, Vetri and Vandergrift tracked Olabode’s movements.  (Trial Tr. at 65, 84, 105, 
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1007, 113–14, Dec. 6, 2017; see also Gov’t Exs. 601B, 601C, 601D, 601E.)  The evidence 

also showed that Vandergrift surveilled Olabode’s residence.  (Trial Tr. at 60–65, Dec. 

5, 2017.)  On the evening of January 4, 2012, Vandergrift, Mangold and Carter went to 

Olabode’s residence to kill him.  (Id. at 78, 80.)  The three waited together in a yard 

adjoining the parking lot behind the apartment house where Olabode lived.  Carter, 

who did not have a gun, eventually returned to the car while Vandergrift and Mangold 

continued to lie in wait.  (Id. at 80, 83.)  Olabode eventually arrived home and 

Vandergrift and Mangold ambushed him as he walked from his car to the house.  (Id. at 

85, 86.)  They fired 31 shots, hitting Olabode numerous times and killing him.  (Id.; 

Gov’t Ex. 805.)   

II 

A 

 Rule 29 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that the court, “on 

the defendant’s motion[,] must enter a judgment of acquittal of any offense for which 

the evidence is insufficient to sustain a conviction.”  Fed. R. Crim. P. 29(a).  In 

considering the motion, the court must “‘review the record in the light most favorable to 

the prosecution to determine whether any rational trier of fact could have found proof of 

guilt beyond a reasonable doubt based on the available evidence.’”  United States v. 

Smith, 294 F.3d 473, 476 (3d Cir. 2002) (quoting United States v. Wolfe, 245 F.3d 257, 

261 (3d Cir. 2001)).  The court must “presume that the jury properly evaluated 

credibility of the witnesses, found the facts, and drew reasonable inferences.”  United 

States v. Iafelice, 978 F.2d 92, 94 (3d Cir. 1992) (citing United States v. Coleman, 811 

F.2d 804, 807 (3d Cir. 1987)); see also United States v. Norris, 753 F. Supp. 2d 492, 501 
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(E.D. Pa. 2010) (“The court may not ‘usurp the role of the jury’ by weighing the evidence 

or assessing the credibility of witnesses.” (quoting United States v. Brodie, 403 F.3d 

123, 133 (3d Cir. 2005))).  The burden on the defendant is “extremely high” when 

challenging the sufficiency of the evidence, Norris, 753 F. Supp. 2d at 501 (quoting 

United States v. Iglesias, 535 F.3d 150, 155 (3d Cir. 2008)), and the jury verdict must be 

sustained “as long as it does not ‘fall below the threshold of bare rationality,’” United 

States v. Caraballo-Rodriguez, 726 F.3d 418, 431 (3d Cir. 2013) (quoting Coleman v. 

Johnson, 566 U.S. 650, 656 (2012)).  See also Brodie, 403 F.3d at 134 (“A finding of 

insufficiency should be ‘confined to cases where the prosecution’s failure is clear.’” 

(quoting Smith, 294 F.3d at 477)). 

B 

 A more deferential standard of review applies under Rule 33, which permits the 

Court to grant a motion for a new trial “if the interest of justice so requires.”  Fed. R. 

Crim. P. 33(a); see also United States v. Johnson, 302 F.3d 139, 150 (3d Cir. 2002) 

(“Unlike an insufficiency of the evidence claim, when a district court evaluates a Rule 

33 motion it does not view the evidence favorably to the Government, but instead 

exercises its own judgment in assessing the Government’s case.”).  Courts may grant a 

new trial if “the verdict is against the weight of the evidence[,]” United States v. Fattah, 

223 F. Supp. 3d 336, 342 (E.D. Pa. 2016) (citing Johnson, 302 F.3d at 150), and “must 

consider whether there is ‘a serious danger that a miscarriage of justice has 

occurred[,]’” id. (quoting United States v. Silveus, 542 F.3d 993, 1004–05 (3d Cir. 2008)).  

Rule 33 motions are not favored and should be “granted sparingly and only in 

exceptional cases.”  United States v. Salahuddin, 765 F.3d 329, 346 (3d Cir. 2014) 
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(internal quotation and citation omitted); see also United States v. Ponton, 337 F. App’x 

179, 181 (3d Cir. 2009) (providing that granting Rule 33 motions is “proper only 

when . . . the jury’s verdict resulted in a miscarriage of justice or where the verdict, on 

the record, cries out to be overturned or shocks our conscience”).    

C 

21 U.S.C. § 846 prohibits attempting or conspiring to distribute or possess with 

intent to distribute a controlled substance in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841.  To convict a 

defendant of conspiracy, the jury must find beyond a reasonable doubt “‘a unity of 

purpose between the alleged conspirators, [] intent to achieve a common goal, and an 

agreement to work together toward that goal.’”  Smith, 294 F.3d at 477 (quoting United 

States v. Gibbs, 190 F.3d 188, 197 (3d Cir. 1999)).  The elements “can be proven entirely 

by circumstantial evidence.”  Brodie, 403 F.3d at 134 (citing United States v. Kapp, 781 

F.2d 1008, 1010 (3d Cir. 1986)).  In fact, “‘it is not unusual that the government will not 

have direct evidence’” as “‘[k]nowledge is often proven by circumstances.’”  Caraballo-

Rodriguez, 726 F.3d at 431 (quoting Iafelice, 978 F.2d at 98); see also Brodie, 403 F.3d 

at 134 (“Indeed, the very nature of the crime of conspiracy is such that it often may be 

established only by indirect and circumstantial evidence.”).   

Further, “a conspirator does not have to be aware of all aspects or details of the 

conspiracy[,]” Fattah, 223 F. Supp. 3d at 352 (citing United States v. Bailey, 840 F.3d 

99, 108 (3d Cir. 2016)), and can be found guilty of an offense committed by a co-

conspirator if the offense was “reasonably foreseeable” or reasonably anticipated by the 

defendant and furthered the objectives of the conspiracy, United States v. Ramos, 147 

F.3d 281, 286 (3d Cir. 1998) (“A defendant convicted of conspiracy is liable for the 
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reasonably foreseeable acts of his coconspirators committed in furtherance of the 

conspiracy.” (citing Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 640 (1946))). 

18 U.S.C. § 924(j)(1) states that a defendant may be found guilty of murder if he 

“causes the death of a person through the use of a firearm” in the course of a violation 

of § 924(c), which prohibits the use or carrying of a firearm in furtherance of a drug 

trafficking crime.  Section 924(j)(1) further specifies that the defendant shall be 

punished by death or by imprisonment for any term of years or for life “if the killing is a 

murder (as defined in section 1111).” 

III 

A 

As an initial matter, to the extent Vandergrift nominally joins in Vetri’s post-

trial motions, Vandergrift’s arguments are all rejected and his “motions” denied for the 

reasons in the Court’s Memorandum Opinion denying Vetri’s motions.  (See ECF No. 

251, Docket No. 15-00157-2.)  For his own part, Vandergrift first argues that his 

September 24, 2012 Proffer Agreement, which he signed and was negotiated and signed 

by his lawyer, is invalid because he purportedly did not know that it precluded him 

from contradicting at trial the admissions made in his numerous proffer sessions with 

the Government.  He claims specifically that he did not understand that the 

Agreement, among other things, restricted his ability to cross-examine or confront 

witnesses.  He now contends that he did not knowingly and voluntarily waive these 

rights.  (Mot. at 1–8.)  The Agreement states in relevant part that: 
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[I]f your client is a witness or party at any trial or other legal proceeding 

and testifies or makes representations through counsel materially 

different from statements made or information provided during the “off-

the-record” proffer, the government may cross-examine your client, 

introduce rebuttal evidence and make representations based on 

statements made or information provided during the “off-the-record” 

proffer.  This provision helps to assure that your client does not abuse the 

opportunity for an “off-the-record” proffer, make materially false 

statements to a government agency, commit perjury or offer false evidence 

at trial or other legal proceedings. 

 

(Mot. at 3.)        

 There is no basis to conclude that Vandergrift failed to knowingly and 

voluntarily waive his rights in the Proffer Agreement.  Vandergrift proffered thirteen 

times over nearly four years, represented by experienced counsel.  In his first proffer 

session, Vandergrift confessed in detail, among other things, to his role in the drug 

distribution conspiracy.3  During the following twelve sessions, Vandergrift confessed to 

numerous other crimes, including his involvement in planning Olabode’s murder to 

receive more oxycodone from Vetri, and finally, murdering Olabode.  After all this, 

Vandergrift nonetheless chose to proceed to trial.  His trial counsel (the same lawyer 

who signed the Proffer Agreement and accompanied Vandergrift at all but one of his 

confessions) never claimed that his client did not knowingly waive his rights or that he 

did not understand the consequences of his proffers.  The Court was never required to 

decide whether any of Vandergrift’s proffered admissions could be used against him at 

trial because his lawyer, understanding full well what he could and could not do, never 

made representations, elicited testimony or proffered evidence materially different from 

Vandergrift’s statements.  Obviously, the jury never heard about Vandergrift’s 

meetings with the Government or any of his admissions. 

                                                           
3  The Court reviewed all of Vandergrift’s proffered statements in the context of a pretrial 

motion filed by the Government.  (See ECF Nos. 110, 132.) 
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 Vandergrift points to a side-bar discussion between his lawyer and the Court for 

the proposition that counsel “believed…that the Court had restricted his ability to 

cross-examine government witness (sic), and consequently mount a defense.”  (Mot. at 

6; Trial Tr. at 7–8, Dec, 1, 2017.)  Vandergrift’s argument is inaccurate, to be 

charitable.  Counsel never stated or implied that the Court restricted his ability to do 

anything.  Counsel, who negotiated and (along with his client) signed the Proffer 

Agreement, fully understood its limitations.  He apparently became concerned at trial 

that his client and his client’s family did not understand why, after Vandergrift had 

confessed during thirteen meetings over four years to doing everything for which he 

had been charged, counsel had to now “sit there like a mo-mo.”  (Trial Tr. at 7–8, Dec. 1, 

2017.)  Counsel wanted the Court to help him explain the facts of life to Vandergrift 

and the family, a responsibility the Court declined to take on.  Vandergrift, represented 

by a lawyer, agreed to proffer and did so thirteen times.  He signed the Proffer 

Agreement and, with the exception of one occasion, his lawyer was with him whenever 

he met with the Government.  If he did not understand why he could not argue his 

innocence at trial, he can take that up with counsel in a separate proceeding.4     

B 

The jury’s verdict was amply supported by the overwhelming amount of evidence 

presented by the Government.  First, the trial included extensive evidence of 

Vandergrift’s participation in the criminal partnership and distribution of oxycodone.  

                                                           
4  Even with the proffers, Vandergrift retained the ability to “ask questions, make arguments, 

and present evidence to: attack the credibility of witnesses; emphasize the improbabilities and 

contradictions in the prosecution’s case; challenge the expertise, competence, and knowledge of 

experts; impugn the motives of witnesses; and stress the prosecution’s failure to meet its burden of 

proof beyond a reasonable doubt.”  United States v. Dales, No. 08-289-3, 2009 WL 3806273, at *4 

(E.D. Pa. Nov. 12, 2009), aff’d, 425 F. App’x 178 (3d Cir. 2011). 
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Perone, Carter and Mangold all testified about Vandergrift’s participation in the drug 

conspiracy.  (Trial Tr. at 232–37, Dec. 1, 2017; Trial Tr. at 227–230, Dec. 4, 2017; Trial 

Tr. at 52–53, Dec. 5, 2017.)  Specifically, Carter testified that he, Vandergrift and 

Perone all sold oxycodone together.  (Trial Tr. at 227, Dec. 4, 2017.)   Patel supplied 

Vetri with oxycodone, who in turn sold pills to Perone and Vandergrift for distribution.  

(Trial Tr. at 226–27; 230, Dec. 1, 2017; Trial Tr. at 68, Dec. 5, 2017.)  Perone also sold 

his share of pills to Vandergrift and Carter for distribution.  (Trial Tr. at 232, Dec. 1, 

2017; Trial Tr. at 229–230, Dec. 4, 2017; Trial Tr. at 52–53, 68, Dec. 5, 2017.)  Robert 

Buckley testified that he purchased oxycodone for personal use from Vandergrift on a 

weekly basis for approximately four years.  (Trial Tr. at 189–194, Dec. 1, 2017.)  

Moreover, Perone testified that on multiple occasions, he arranged for Vandergrift to 

travel to Florida, pick up oxycodone and travel back to Pennsylvania with the pills.  

(Trial Tr. at 235, Dec. 1, 2017.)  Perone continued buying oxycodone from his connection 

in Florida until he, Vandergrift and Carter were arrested there.  (Id. at 237.)   

The evidence was also more than sufficient to convict Vandergrift on the murder 

charge.  The jurors learned that when the pharmaceutical wholesalers began to limit 

Patel’s supply of oxycodone, Patel needed to pare the number of his primary 

distributors from two to one.  (Trial Tr. at 114-15, 133, 153-54, 161-62, Dec. 4, 2017.)  

After he chose Olabode over Vetri for that role, Vetri decided to eliminate Olabode as a 

competitor and discussed with Vandergrift the need to kill Olabode.  (Id. at 162–64; 

Trial Tr. at 65–67, Dec. 5, 2017.)  Carter and Mangold testified that Vandergrift 

recruited them to help carry out the plan.  (Trial Tr. at 240–44, Dec. 4, 2017; Trial Tr. 

at 66, 74, Dec. 5, 2017.)  Carter testified that eliminating Olabode would allow Vetri, 
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Carter and others to get more oxycodone.  (Trial Tr. at 240–241, Dec. 4, 2017.)  Mangold 

also testified that in exchange for murdering Olabode, Vetri promised to get 

Vandergrift “more [oxycodone] from the pharmacy owner[.]”  (Trial Tr. at 67, Dec. 5, 

2017; Trial Tr. at 240–41, Dec. 4, 2017.) 

Vetri provided Vandergrift with information on Olabode, including Olabode’s 

address and the type of cars he drove.  (Trial Tr. at 60, 62, Dec. 5, 2017; Gov’t Ex. 601-

C.)  Mangold testified that Vandergrift relayed this information to him and that 

Mangold went with Vandergrift to surveil Olabode’s house.  (Trial Tr. at 60-70, Dec. 5, 

2017.)  The Government also introduced text messages and cell cite location data 

showing that in the fall and winter of 2011, Vetri and Vandergrift tracked Olabode’s 

movements.  (Trial Tr. at 65, 84, 105, 1007, 113–14, Dec. 6, 2017; see also Gov’t Exs. 

601B, 601C, 601D, 601E.) 

Carter testified that at some point before January 4, 2012, Vandergrift told him 

that the plan to rob Olabode turned into a plan to kill him.  (Trial Tr. at 242, Dec. 4, 

2017.)  Once the planning was complete, Vandergrift, Mangold and Carter waited 

behind the apartment house where Olabode lived.  (Trial Tr. at 78, 80, Dec. 5, 2017.)  

Carter testified that after they had all waited for some time for Olabode to arrive, 

Vandergrift told Carter to go back to the car.  (Trial Tr. at 255–56, Dec. 4, 2017.)  

Mangold testified that once Olabode arrived, he and Vandergrift ambushed him and 

shot him to death.  (Trial Tr. at 80–86, Dec. 5, 2017; Gov’t Ex. 805.)  Hastings also 

testified that Vandergrift told him that he murdered “a guy named Bo.”5  (Trial Tr. at 

269, Dec. 5, 2017.)  Hastings recounted the details of the murder relayed to him by 

                                                           
5   Olabode was also known as “Bo.”   (Trial Tr. at 92–93, Dec. 4, 2017.) 
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Vandergrift, specifically that Vandergrift and Mangold collectively fired 28 or 29 rounds 

and hit Olabode 13 or 14 times.  (Id. at 275.)  Vandergrift also showed Hastings a tattoo 

behind his ear of an Infiniti symbol, something he and Mangold obtained to 

commemorate the murder.6  (Id. at 280.)  Finally, Eric Maratea, a friend of Vetri, 

testified that after Olabode’s murder, Vetri was “acting nervous” because Vandergrift 

got arrested.  (Id. at 228.)  Vetri told Maratea that Vandergrift “got rid of Bo” for him.  

(Id.)   

Whether viewing the record in the light most favorable to the prosecution or 

assessing the weight of the evidence, the jurors properly concluded that Vandergrift 

was a distributor in the oxycodone distribution conspiracy as well as one of Olabode’s 

killers.  

C 

Vandergrift also claims that the prosecutors engaged in misconduct, specifically 

that they permitted the introduction of perjured testimony from Eric Hastings.  Vetri 

made this argument in his post-trial motions and the Court has already determined 

that the claim lacks merit.  (Memorandum, at 20–21, ECF No. 251, Docket No. 15-

00157-2.) 

D 

i 

Vandergrift contends that the Government introduced unduly prejudicial 

evidence of his incarceration and that the Court failed to give the appropriate 

cautionary instructions to the jury.  (Mot. 10–11.)  Specifically, Eric Hastings testified 

about a conversation he had with Vandergrift before trial in a holding cell at the 
                                                           
6   Olabode drove an Infiniti car.  
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Federal Detention Center.  During that conversation, Vandergrift told Hastings that he 

murdered Olabode.  (Trial Tr. at 267–69, Dec. 5, 2017.)  Vandergrift’s admission to 

Hastings was obviously highly probative and, since Hastings was incarcerated himself, 

the location of the conversation was fairly unavoidable.  To corroborate Hastings’ 

testimony, FBI Special Agent Matthew Yaeger testified that he obtained records from 

the FDC which showed that Vandergrift and Hastings were housed on the same unit 

and were cellmates for a brief period of time.  (Trial Tr. at 158–63, Dec. 6, 2017.)   

Since Vandergrift was charged with murder as well as participating in a drug 

conspiracy, a rational juror would assume that he was incarcerated pending trial.  See 

Jake v. Felker, No. 07-6208, 2009 WL 1743635, at *35 (C.D. Cal. June 17, 2009).  

Further, Vandergrift’s counsel did not object to either witness’s testimony—not that it 

would have mattered.  During his opening statement, counsel himself told the jury that 

“Michael Vandergrift has been in jail since January 19, 2012.”  (Trial Tr. at 53:7-12, 

Nov. 30, 2017.)  Given the probative value of the testimony and in light of the 

overwhelming evidence presented at trial, the introduction of Vandergrift’s 

incarceration history since 2012 without a limiting instruction—which the Court was 

not asked to give—was not unduly prejudicial. 

ii 

Vandergrift next asserts that it was unduly prejudicial for the Government to 

elicit testimony from Mangold that he met Vandergrift in prison, given that Vandergrift 

stipulated to knowing Mangold.  (Trial Tr. at 49, Dec. 5, 2017.)  Vandergrift’s counsel 

did not object to the introduction of this testimony nor did he ask for a curative 

instruction.  Again, in light of the volume of evidence against Vandergrift, the “interest 
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of justice” does not require that Vandergrift receive a new trial based on the jurors 

knowing that his fellow murderer met him while they were both in jail at some point in 

the past. 

iii 

Finally, Vandergrift contends that he was unduly prejudiced by Mangold’s 

testimony about a burglary he and Vandergrift committed in Collingdale, 

Pennsylvania.  (Trial Tr. at 57–59, Dec. 5, 2017.)  This issue was litigated before trial.  

The Government and Vandergrift submitted briefs regarding prior bad acts (ECF Nos. 

111, 127, 154); the Court heard oral argument (ECF No. 131) and ruled that the 

testimony was admissible as intrinsic evidence (Memorandum, at 5–7, ECF No. 171).  

To the extent Vandergrift seeks to re-litigate this issue and have the Court reconsider 

its pretrial ruling, the Court declines to do so and Vandergrift is free to raise the issue 

on appeal.  

E 

Vandergrift also claims that there was a variance between the conduct charged 

in the indictment and the evidence presented at trial.  Vetri made the same argument 

in his post-trial motions and the Court determined that the claim lacks merit.  For 

those same reasons Vandergrift is not entitled to judgment of acquittal or a new trial on 

the issue of a purported variance.  (Memorandum, at 21–24, ECF No. 251, Docket No. 

15-00157-2.) 
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F 

Vandergrift’s argument that the drug conspiracy charge was barred by the 

statute of limitations is equally unavailing.7  (Supp. Mot. at 1, ECF No. 234.)  Under 18 

U.S.C. § 3282, non-capital offenses are subject to a five-year statute of limitations.  The 

statute of limitations for a drug conspiracy, which does not require proof of an overt act, 

see United States v. Shabani, 513 U.S. 10, 11 (1994), is satisfied if the Government 

proves that the conspiracy continued into the limitations period.  Smith v. United 

States, 568 U.S. 106, 113 (2013); see also United States v. Seher, 562 F.3d 1344, 1364 

(11th Cir. 2009) (“The government satisfies the requirements of the statute of 

limitations for a non-overt act conspiracy if it alleges and proves that the conspiracy 

continued into the limitations period.”).  Non-overt act conspiracies continue “until the 

termination of the conspiracy or, as to a particular defendant, until that defendant’s 

withdrawal.”  Smith, 568 U.S. at 113.   

 The evidence presented was sufficient for the jury to find that Vandergrift was a 

willing and continuous participant in the drug conspiracy.  The operative date for 

determining whether the conspiracy charge was timely is May 31, 2012, five years 

before the Second Superseding Indictment8 was filed (ECF No. 82).  The evidence 

established that the drug conspiracy continued well into the limitations period.  Patel 

testified that he distributed oxycodone from 2008 until his pharmacy was raided by law 

enforcement on June 4, 2013.  (Trial Tr. at 121, Dec. 4, 2017.)  “[C]onspiracy is a 

                                                           
7  Vandergrift does not argue that the murder was outside the statute of limitations.  In any 

event, a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 924(j) is a crime punishable by death, and the Government could 

indict Vandergrift for violating that statute “at any time without limitation.”  18 U.S.C. § 3281; see 

also (Memorandum, ECF No. 251, Docket No. 15-00157-2). 

 
8   Although the Second Superseding Indictment is the operative indictment, there is no relation 

back issue because Vandergrift was not charged as a co-conspirator in the preceding indictments.   
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continuing offense, [and] a defendant who has joined a conspiracy continues to violate 

the law ‘through every moment of [the conspiracy’s] existence,’ and he becomes 

responsible for the acts of his co-conspirators in pursuit of their common plot.”  Smith, 

568 U.S. at 111 (quoting Hyde v. United States, 225 U.S. 247, 269 (1912)).  Vandergrift 

joined the conspiracy in 2010 at the latest and was responsible for its acts until the end.  

(Trial Tr. at 227, Dec. 4, 2017.) 

 Vandergrift never argued during trial that he withdrew from the conspiracy.   

The defendant has the burden of establishing withdrawal by a preponderance of the 

evidence and Vandergrift failed to present any evidence to address that burden.  His 

belated argument that he withdrew is meritless.  He seems to now claim that he left the 

conspiracy at some point in 2012, based on the fact that he has been incarcerated since 

January 19 of that year and began proffering with the Government on September 24.  

(Mot. at 2.)  First of all, Vandergrift’s proffers are irrelevant because, again, the 

operative date for the statute of limitations is May 31, 2012.  Moreover, to show that he 

withdrew from the conspiracy, Vandergrift must have presented “evidence of some 

affirmative act of withdrawal on his part, typically either a full confession to the 

authorities or communication to his co-conspirators that he has abandoned the 

enterprise and its goals.”  United States v. Steele, 685 F.2d 793, 803–04 (3d Cir. 1982).  

The fact that he was incarcerated in January 2012 is insufficient because withdrawal 

requires something more than “cessation of criminal activity.”  United States v. 

Kushner, 305 F.3d 194, 198 (3d Cir. 2002); see also United States v. Jackson, No. 93-57-

4, 1995 WL 27161, at *2 (E.D. Pa. Jan. 20, 1995), aff’d, 70 F.3d 1258 (3d Cir. 1995) (“An 

arrest has been held not to constitute withdrawal because it does not clearly notify co-
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conspirators that defendant has abandoned the conspiracy.”); United States v. Diaz, No. 

92-78, 1993 WL 85764, at *11 (E.D. Pa. Mar. 25, 1993), aff’d, 19 F.3d 644 (3d Cir. 1994) 

(“Arrest and incarceration, by themselves, do not evidence withdrawal from 

a conspiracy.”).  Furthermore, a reasonable jury could have found that Vandergrift did 

not withdraw after his incarceration, particularly when he did not tell any of his co-

conspirators that he wished to abandon his participation in the conspiracy and 

continued to receive benefits from the illegal scheme through at least May 17, 2012.  In 

particular, Vetri continued to compensate Vandergrift for murdering Olabode by 

allowing his girlfriend to live rent-free in an apartment owned by Vetri.  (Gov’t Ex. 6B-

13; Trial Tr. at 34–37, Dec. 5, 2017.)  Vandergrift failed to present any evidence that he 

withdrew; in fact the jurors saw and heard evidence to the contrary. 

An appropriate Order follows. 

BY THE COURT: 

__________________________ 

GERALD J. PAPPERT, J. 

/s/ Gerald J. Pappert 


